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BEFORE THE IOWA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSIONER

______________________________________________________________________



  :

CHEGENNY IRIARTE,
  :



  : 

Claimant,
  :



  :

vs.

  :



  :                 File Nos. 5040416, 5040417
RENT-A-CENTER,
  :



  :                      A R B I T R A T I O N 


Employer,
  :



  :                           D E C I S I O N

and

  :



  :

HARTFORD INSURANCE COMPANY,
  :



  :


Insurance Carrier,
  :


Defendants.
  :            Head Note No.:  1803; 4000.2
______________________________________________________________________

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Claimant, Chegenny Iriarte, filed petitions in arbitration seeking workers’ compensation benefits from Rent-A-Center, employer, and Hartford Insurance Company, insurance carrier, both as defendants, as a result of stipulated injuries sustained on September 6, 2011 and July 13, 2011.  This matter came on for hearing before Deputy Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Erica J. Fitch (f/k/a Erica J. Elliott), on March 8, 2013, in Des Moines, Iowa.  The record in this case consists of claimant’s exhibits 1 through 8 and the testimony of the claimant.  
ISSUES

For File No. 5040416 (Date of Injury: September 6, 2011):

The parties submitted the following issues for determination:

1. The extent of claimant’s industrial disability; and

2. Whether claimant is entitled to penalty benefits under Iowa Code section 86.13 and if so, how much.

The stipulations of the parties in the hearing report are incorporated by reference in this decision.  
For File No. 5040417 (Date of Injury: July 13, 2011):

The parties submitted the following issues for determination:

1. Whether the stipulated injury of July 13, 2011 is a cause of permanent disability; and

2. The extent of permanent disability to claimant’s left upper extremity.
The stipulations of the parties in the hearing report are incorporated by reference in this decision.  

For both files:

The parties submitted the following issues for determination:

1. Specific taxation of costs. 
FINDINGS OF FACT

The undersigned, having considered all of the evidence and testimony in the record, finds:

Claimant’s testimony was consistent as compared to the evidentiary record and her demeanor at the time of evidentiary hearing gave the undersigned no reason to doubt claimant’s veracity.  Claimant is found credible.
Claimant was 36 years of age at the time of evidentiary hearing.  She resides in Sioux City, Iowa.  Claimant was born in Cuba, but came to the United States as a political refuge in 1980 at the age of 4.  Claimant is fluent in both English and Spanish.  (Claimant’s testimony)  

Claimant attended high school through the 11th grade, at which time she was forced to drop out due to familial issues and homelessness.  At the time she dropped out of high school, claimant had a 4.0 grade point average; she ultimately obtained her GED.  Following receipt of her GED, claimant continued to pursue higher education, attending Western Iowa Tech on a part-time basis.  Claimant initially began attending Western Iowa Tech while she was employed full-time at Walmart and she continued to pursue credits as permitted while she worked full-time.  She has amassed approximately 90 college credits, majoring in the field of biology.  Generally speaking, claimant believes she has done quite well overall in her studies, with the exception of three to four classes interrupted by her development of sarcoidosis which left her very ill.  Claimant believes she is close to earning her two-year associates’ degree at Western Iowa Tech; upon completion of this program, claimant would like to transfer her credits to a four-year college and earn a bachelors’ degree.  She initially hoped to become a medical doctor, but due to the length of such a program of study, claimant now hopes to pursue a career in the psychology field.  (Claimant’s testimony) 

Claimant’s medical history includes diagnoses of sarcoidosis and asthma.  Asthma is treated with an albuterol inhaler and neubulizer, Singulair, and Advair.  Claimant testified she was diagnosed with sarcoidosis when she began coughing up blood after exposure to an ammonia leak at former employer, John Morrell.  Claimant testified the condition left her with enlarged lymph nodes and an increased heart rate.  She also explained the condition impacted her breathing and depressed her immune levels, leading her to become sick.  Following a three-year course of treatment with prednisone, claimant’s symptoms resolved.  She denies any ongoing impact of this condition upon her ability to work.  Claimant testified a physician raised the possibility of claimant suffering with fibromyalgia at one point, but the symptoms which prompted treatment resolved and she never received a diagnosis of fibromyalgia.  Claimant denied any prior back issues, involvement in any serious motor vehicle accidents, prior lawsuits, or prior workers’ compensation claims.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant’s work history begins at approximately the age of 12, performing detasseling work in the summer months.  At age 14, claimant became a dietary aid at a care center for the elderly and continued in this position until she obtained a job as a cook at age 16.  Claimant continued to work as a cook until she was 18 years old.  Claimant’s work history also includes quality assurance at meat packing plants, earning approximately $12.00 per hour; similar work as a product liaison for Coleman Natural Foods; some sporadic interpreting services generally earning $9.00 to $15.00 per hour; laboratory technician for Cargill earning just below $14.00 per hour; a short period performing human resources tasks; assistant manager at a trailer park, earning $12.35 per hour and tasked with home inspection, leasing, rent collection, and supervision of maintenance employees; telephone marketing, sales, and customer service; car detailing; and mortgage loan originator.  (Claimant’s testimony) 

Claimant began work for defendant-employer in October 2010 as a customer account representative, earning $9.00 per hour.  After approximately two months, claimant was promoted to assistant manager and sales manager, earning $9.50 per hour.  Her duties included handling sales for defendant-employer and required computer training regarding merchandise.  Claimant then moved to a position as credit manager and thereafter, became a manager-in-training.  Manager-in-training preparation required claimant to undergo computer study courses in topics such as budgeting.  Claimant testified she was doing well in the management program and never received an individual written reprimand from defendant-employer.  Claimant expressed excitement about her job prospects with defendant-employer and hoped to earn a position as a store manager in one of the company’s new stores opening in Mexico.  She believed this would be a good opportunity, given her fluency in English and Spanish.  Claimant worked 47 to 50 hours per week, earning $11.00 per hour.  (Claimant’s testimony)

On July 13, 2011, claimant sought medical attention for left arm complaints.  Claimant testified she injured herself approximately eight weeks earlier, when she and a coworker were tasked with picking up a reclining sectional sofa.  Claimant described the piece of furniture as very heavy and indicated when she lifted her side of the sofa, she felt a ripping and stinging sensation in her left arm.  When she returned to the truck, she felt a pinch in her back and the left arm locked into an L-shaped position. Claimant spoke with her supervisor, who expressed belief the pain would subside with time, as claimant was simply not used to performing such heavy lifting tasks.  When pain persisted, claimant pressed her supervisor for medical care and was referred to her personal medical physician for treatment.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant presented for medical care with Alan Schenne, D.O., on July 13, 2011.  She complained of left arm, elbow, and shoulder pain.  Dr. Schenne noted claimant’s symptoms as left upper extremity muscle pain and left hand numbness.  He assessed left upper limb pain, strain and sprain of the left shoulder and upper arm, and myalgia and myositis.  Dr. Schenne prescribed Nabumetone and recommended use of ice, massage, rest, and over-the-counter Arnica cream.  He placed claimant on light duty.  (Exhibit 1, pages 1-2)  Light duty restrictions were stated as no lifting greater than 10 pounds and no repetitive overhead work.  (Ex. 1, p. 30)

On August 9, 2011, claimant returned to Dr. Schenne with continued complaints of left arm pain.  Dr. Schenne ordered x-rays of claimant’s left elbow which were negative and revealed no fracture or dislocation, and normal bone texture.  Dr. Schenne assessed left elbow pain, improved by 20 percent, and a sprain and strain of the left shoulder and upper arm.  (Ex. 1, pp. 3-4, 31)

While claimant remained under work restrictions limiting use of her left arm, claimant continued to work.  On September 6, 2011, claimant assisted a coworker lift a mattress into a truck and felt a pinching sensation in her upper back.  Claimant testified she drove to the drop-off location and by the time she arrived, claimant had developed terrible pain in her back and could barely breathe.  She returned to defendant-employer’s store and informed her supervisor, who referred claimant to the emergency room.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Claimant received evaluation at the Mercy Emergency Department; staff assessed a paraspinal muscle spasm of the thoracic spine, prescribed a muscle relaxer, and recommended use of ice, heat, and NSAIDs.  Claimant was also placed under work restrictions, limiting lifting, pushing, and pulling, and designating a maximum lift of 10 pounds.  (Ex. 6, p. 4)

Following the emergency room visit, claimant was referred back to Dr. Schenne on September 8, 2011.  Dr. Schenne noted improvement in claimant’s left arm pain and range of motion, but a new complaint of back pain.  He commemorated claimant’s complaints as upper back pain of a sharp and stabbing nature, decreased spine range of motion, and right lower extremity numbness.  Dr. Schenne assessed back pain and a thoracic/lumbar strain, for which he prescribed hydrocodone.  He also continued to assess a sprain and strain of the left shoulder and upper arm, and recommended continued use of Arnica cream.  (Ex. 1, pp. 5-6)  During the month of September 2011, claimant also underwent a course of physical therapy.  (Ex. 6, pp. 1-2)

Claimant returned to Dr. Schenne on September 28, 2011 with complaints of upper and lower back pain radiating into the bilateral lower extremities, worse on the right.  Dr. Schenne assessed back pain, myalgia and myositis, and a lumbar strain.  He recommended continued use of Nabumetone, as well as physical therapy, a home exercise program, and use of ice and rest.  Dr. Schenne also prescribed Citalopram to treat depressive symptoms.  (Ex. 1, pp. 8-9)

On October 18, 2011, Dr. Schenne outlined claimant’s work restrictions, effective September 6, 2011.  Restrictions included no pushing, pulling, twisting, turning, carrying, or stooping; rare bending; a maximum lift of 10 pounds frequently; and frequent sitting of a three to four hour duration.  (Ex. 1, p. 28)  The following date, Dr. Schenne authored a letter to defendants’ third party administrator, stating during physical therapy claimant developed worsening of lumbar pain with left lower extremity pain and weakness and requested authorization of a lumbar spine MRI to rule out a herniated disc.  (Ex. 1, p. 32)

A lumbar spine MRI was performed on October 24, 2011.  The radiologist read the MRI as revealing a very faint bulging of the annulus at L5-S1 which did not contribute to spinal canal stenosis, neuroforaminal stenosis, or nerve root compression or displacement.  With the exception of the L5-S1 condition, the radiologist opined the MRI otherwise unremarkable.  (Ex. 4, pp. 1-2)

Claimant underwent a pain management consult with Timothy Hainds, M.D., on November 4, 2011.  Dr. Hainds assessed lumbar radiculopathy primarily irritating the left S1 nerve root and recommended an L5-S1 epidural steroid injection.  (Ex. 3, pp. 1-2)  Romano Adajar, M.D., performed this injection on December 1, 2011.  (Ex. 3, pp. 3, 5)  Claimant testified the epidural steroid injection worsened her pain and resulted in a headache.  (Claimant’s testimony)

On December 8, 2011, claimant returned to Dr. Schenne and reported development of a headache following the epidural injection the prior week.  Dr. Schenne assessed back pain with left-sided leg weakness and degenerative disc disease of the lumbar spine, for which claimant should follow-up with the pain management provider.  (Ex. 1, pp. 11-12)

Due to headache complaints, claimant returned to Dr. Adajar on December 12, 2011.  Dr. Adajar performed an epidural blood patch and noted immediate alleviation of claimant’s headache complaints.  (Ex. 4, pp. 3-4)  Medical records and claimant’s testimony indicate claimant’s spinal headache persisted for 10 days, between the epidural steroid injection and the blood patch.  Claimant confirmed the headache resolved immediately following the blood patch.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. 1, pp. 13-14, 34-35)  

Claimant returned to Dr. Schenne on December 21, 2011.  Dr. Schenne assessed degenerative disc disease of the lumbar spine and prescribed oxycodone.  He also assessed a bulging disc at L5-S1, prescribed Phentermine, and referred claimant to neurosurgeon, Thorir Ragnarsson, M.D.  (Ex. 1, pp. 13-14, 34-35)   

Claimant last worked at defendant-employer in December 2011.  She explained she became quite stiff while cleaning and organizing the office.  As a result of this soreness, claimant called in sick for three days.  The store manager then placed claimant in short term disability status.  Claimant testified once an employee is placed in such status, the employee is unable to return to work absent a full duty release.  Throughout this time, claimant remained under work restrictions and thus, was unable to return to full duty work status.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant presented to neurosurgeon, Dr. Ragnarsson, on January 10, 2012.  Claimant expressed complaints of continued back symptoms and some radiation into the legs, more on the right, as well as some numbness and weakness.  Dr. Ragnarsson reviewed claimant’s lumbar spine MRI and generally agreed with the reading of the radiologist.  He opined the study was practically normal, with normal discs, normal spinal canal, no nerve root compression pathology, and no nerve root or spinal canal compromise.  Dr. Ragnarsson opined the MRI revealed a minimal disc protrusion, more to the left, at L5-S1; he indicated the protrusion did not come in contact with or compress any neural elements.  (Ex. 2, pp. 1-4)

Dr. Ragnarsson ultimately indicated claimant’s condition did not require neurosurgical treatment or intervention.  He opined claimant’s symptoms likely represented a musculoskeletal sprain, as opposed to involving nerve root compression. Dr. Ragnarsson opined claimant had not yet achieved maximum medical improvement (MMI) and claimant’s best treatment option consisted of additional medical treatment, including physical therapy, a home exercise program, and weight loss.  He recommended removing claimant from narcotic analgesics in favor of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories and possibly Gabapentin, Lyrica, or Cymbalta.  During this course of treatment, Dr. Ragnarsson imposed light duty restrictions of a maximum lift of 20 pounds.  He noted this restriction could be adjusted with improved conditioning and decreased pain levels.  Dr. Ragnarsson prescribed a course of physical therapy and advised claimant to follow-up with Dr. Schenne.  (Ex. 2, pp. 1-4)   

On January 19, 2012, claimant returned to Dr. Schenne.  Following examination, Dr. Schenne assessed back pain with left leg weakness, lumbar degenerative joint disease, and sciatica.  He prescribed Lyrica and recommended a course of physical therapy.  At that time, Dr. Schenne also completed FMLA paperwork for claimant.  (Ex. 1, pp. 15-16)  Dr. Schenne’s physician certification on these FMLA papers opines claimant unable to perform some job functions, as she was restricted to no repetitive lifting and no bending or twisting.  (Ex. 1, p. 25)

Claimant participated in a course of physical therapy during the month of March 2012.  (Ex. 5, pp. 1-3)

Claimant returned to Dr. Schenne on March 30, 2012 with complaints of low back pain radiating up claimant’s spine, stiffness, and right leg numbness.  Dr. Schenne assessed back pain with left leg weakness, lumbar strain with right lower extremity sciatica, myalgia and myositis, and a bulging lumbar disc.  Dr. Schenne declined to place claimant at MMI or return claimant to full duty and indicated claimant required a functional capacity evaluation (FCE) to determine her functional abilities.  (Ex. 1, pp. 17-19, 33)

A functional capacity evaluation took place on April 17, 2012.  Physical therapist, Timothy Saulsbury, opined claimant showed no signs of symptom exaggeration, no Waddell’s signs, and passed 90 percent of validity criteria.  He therefore indicated claimant demonstrated excellent effort and the FCE yielded valid results.  Mr. Saulsbury opined claimant capable of working in the light physical demand category for an eight-hour workday, specifically with the ability to leg lift up to 25 pounds and back lift 20 pounds.  Claimant’s physical abilities were recorded as a maximum power lift of 47 pounds infrequently, 30 pounds occasionally, 15 pounds frequently, and 6 pounds constantly.  Mr. Saulsbury found claimant limited to infrequent bending, squatting, and kneeling, as well as occasional stair climbing and crawling.  He also recommended limiting of leg and back lifting from the floor secondary to low back pain.  Based upon spinal inclinometry results of the lumbar spine, Mr. Saulsbury opined claimant sustained a 10 percent whole person impairment.  (Ex. 5, pp. 4-6)   

Claimant described the FCE as extremely difficult and testified she gave maximum effort during the course of the FCE with Mr. Saulsbury.  As a result of this effort, claimant testified she spent the next three days in bed and would not have been able to repeat the FCE exercises on the days immediately following the evaluation.  (Claimant’s testimony)   

On April 25, 2012, claimant returned to Dr. Schenne with complaints of back pain with numbness and tingling down the right leg.  His records note claimant’s lumbar spine MRI of October 24, 2011 revealed a faint bulging annulus at L5-S1, but was otherwise normal.  He assessed a lumbar strain with right lower extremity sciatica and degenerative joint disease of the lumbar spine.  Dr. Schenne placed claimant at MMI, noting an FCE had been completed, and opined claimant sustained a 10 percent impairment.  (Ex. 1, pp. 20-22)  
Claimant testified Dr. Schenne eventually released her from care relative to the left arm complaints, indicating the condition would heal with time.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Defendant-employer terminated claimant on June 30, 2012.  At the time of her termination, claimant continued to remain off work due to placement on short term disability status.  Claimant collected unemployment benefits; these benefits ceased a few weeks prior to evidentiary hearing.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Following termination, claimant presented to Iowa Workforce Development and engaged in classes and testing, as well as redid her résumé.  Claimant testified she applied for “tons” of jobs via Iowa Workforce Development, newspaper ads, and online services.  Her efforts have yielded approximately 20 interviews and two job offers.  Claimant rejected a job offer from DIRECTV, as duties required an employee to stand for an eight-hour shift and sell services in a home improvement store.  Claimant rejected another job offer as it would have required her to relocate to Brookings, South Dakota.  If relocation had not been required, claimant believes she could have performed the duties and earned a wage of $11.00 per hour.  Claimant testified she is precluded from returning to her prior positions in quality assurance and as a product liaison, as each position required constant standing and heavy lifting up to 60 pounds.  Claimant does not believe she is capable of returning to work detailing cars.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant believes she would be capable of performing office and desk work, including that similar to her human resources experience, leading her to apply for several human resources positions.  These positions generally require either a human resources certification or a bachelors’ degree.  Claimant testified her Iowa Workforce Development counselor advised her that reenrollment in school may allow her to receive an additional 20 weeks of unemployment benefits.  However, claimant testified she has had difficulty reenrolling, as her student loans are in default for late payment and she is otherwise unable to afford tuition. Claimant also believes herself capable of returning to employment similar to her duties as an assistant manager at the trailer park and as a loan originator.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Prior to the work injuries, claimant testified she was never out of work for more than a couple of months at a time and often worked more than one job.  Claimant continues to search for employment, with most applications submitted in the areas of sales and human resources.  Ideally, she would like a career in management or psychology, although to become a psychologist, claimant would be required to obtain a four-year college degree.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Following release by Dr. Schenne, claimant testified she visited the emergency room on two occasions.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Claimant presented to St. Lukes Medical Center on July 24, 2012 with complaints of pain in the upper back and a “locking up” sensation of a two-day duration.  (Ex. 4, p. 5)  Claimant testified she attempted to rise from a seated position when her back locked and resulted in pain throughout her back and shooting down her legs.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Staff noted a history of work injury, without new injury, and assessed a lumbar muscle spasm.  Claimant received a prescription for Valium.  (Ex. 4, pp. 6-7, 9)  Claimant testified she also received a morphine shot which provided relief of her symptoms.  She also presented to the emergency room on another occasion only shortly before evidentiary hearing.  (Claimant’s testimony)  

On November 7, 2012, claimant presented to board certified occupational medicine physician, Sunil Bansal, M.D., for claimant’s independent medical evaluation (IME).  (Ex. 7, p. 1)  Claimant complained of symptoms of the left upper extremity, including upper arm pain, swelling, lumps on the biceps and triceps, numbness and tingling.  She relayed an average pain level of 2 on a 10-point scale which reached a level 6 with activity.  Claimant also complained of back pain with occasional numbness and tingling down the left lower extremity which resulted in falls on more than one occasion.  Average pain was described as a level 3, but reaching a level 10 with activity.  Claimant indicated her symptoms caused interrupted sleep.  (Ex. 7, pp. 7-8)

Dr. Bansal’s history identifies work injuries on July 13, 2011 and September 6, 2011.  Following treatment, claimant was released from care at MMI, with commemorated restrictions of no lifting greater than 25 pounds and no bending or twisting.  Dr. Bansal noted claimant was terminated due to restrictions.  Claimant indicated she was able to engage in the FCE, but doing so resulted in significant pain thereafter.  She expressed an ability to lift 20 pounds, but not on a repetitive basis.  (Ex. 7, pp. 6-8)  Following discussion with claimant, Dr. Bansal opined claimant “strongly wants to get back to work,” but had no success in finding a new job.  He further stated claimant was unable to perform the same type of work she performed in the past and most jobs available to claimant at the time of evaluation required lifting up to 50 pounds.  (Ex. 7, p. 9)   

On examination, Dr. Bansal noted various back symptoms, including palpable lumbar tenderness, greater on the left and most prominently between L1 and L4; guarding along the paraspinal muscles; and a positive left straight leg raise test at 60 degrees.  He also noted loss of sensory discrimination down the left posterior lower extremity in the lateral aspect of the foot and fourth and fifth toes.  In the left upper extremity, Dr. Bansal noted palpable tenderness over the biceps and triceps, loss of sensory discrimination over the third digit, and a 20 percent deficit in flexion strength versus the right upper extremity.  (Ex. 7, pp. 9-10)

Following medical records review, history, and examination, Dr. Bansal assessed left upper arm myositis and a L5-S1 disc bulge with radiculopathy.  Dr. Bansal opined claimant’s pain levels were unlikely to improve.  With regard to claimant’s low back, Dr. Bansal expressed agreement with Dr. Schenne’s placement of claimant at MMI on April 25, 2012.  He opined claimant had achieved MMI with regard to the left upper extremity on November 7, 2012, the date of IME.  (Ex. 7, pp. 10-11)  Dr. Bansal opined claimant sustained a permanent impairment of 3 percent left upper extremity due to strength deficits in flexion.  He opined claimant’s back condition fell within DRE Lumbar Category III, due to a disc issue at L5-S1 visible on imaging and corresponding radiculopathy in the S1 distribution, plus loss of relevant strength and reflex and extensive pain complaints.  Dr. Bansal opined claimant sustained a permanent impairment of 13 percent whole person as a result of her back injury.  He further opined claimant’s conditions may require intermittent use of NSAIDs and pain medications.  (Ex. 7, pp. 11-12)    

With regard to claimant’s need for permanent restrictions, Dr. Bansal commented claimant demonstrated the ability to lift heavier items at her FCE.  However, due to claimant’s reports of tremendous pain and limitation in the days thereafter, Dr. Bansal opined claimant should not lift greater than 10 pounds frequently and 20 pounds occasionally.  He also recommended restrictions of no frequent bending, squatting, climbing, twisting, and kneeling.  With regard to sitting, standing, and walking, Dr. Bansal opined claimant capable of performing these tasks as tolerated, but recommended avoidance of sitting longer than one hour and standing or walking longer than 45 minutes at a time.  (Ex. 7, p. 12)  

At evidentiary hearing, claimant expressed agreement with the lifting restrictions outlined by Dr. Bansal.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Claimant testified she is able to bend and squat on occasion, but not frequently, as what she describes as up and down motions cause increased symptoms.  She also testified to limitation in her ability to sit and stand, leading her to alternate between the two positions.  Claimant expressed the ability to sit for one hour and stand for 25 minutes prior to her body beginning to take a hunched posture.  (Claimant’s testimony) 

Claimant continues to experience difficulties related to her left upper extremity and back injuries.  Claimant testified her left arm condition has not resolved and she continues to have some difficulty with lifting items and turning a steering wheel.  When performing such tasks, claimant feels a sensation akin to rubber bands stinging her arm.  Claimant also relayed a “grainy” feeling in the left arm and trouble with constant swelling.  (Claimant’s testimony)  At the time of evidentiary hearing, the undersigned observed a swollen area on the inside of claimant’s left arm, near the left elbow.     

Claimant also continues to suffer with symptoms in her back, namely a constant low back pain and spasms of the upper back.  She described the low back pain as tolerable, so long as she does not have upper back spasms.  In instances when claimant is required to sit for longer than 1 to 1 ½ hours, claimant develops pain in her tailbone, her legs begin to fall asleep, and her back begins to spasm.  Should she be required to stand for prolonged periods, her body begins to hunch.  Claimant testified she is able to drive.  The longest drive she has completed since her work injuries is a 2 ½ hour drive from Sioux City to Lincoln, Nebraska.  Claimant testified she stopped between the two towns to walk around.  Claimant does not have any medical appointments scheduled related to her back or left upper extremity conditions.   (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant testified to limitations in performance of household tasks.  For example, claimant experiences difficulty in washing dishes, as doing so requires extension of her arms, lifting with the left arm, and standing.  She also has difficulty moving her body up and down to complete laundry tasks and difficulty dusting over her head.  Claimant’s hobbies are also impacted.  Claimant testified she is no longer able to jog, but is able to walk and swim, albeit to a lesser degree than prior to the work injuries.  Claimant continues some involvement in dancing and choreography projects, practicing for one hour two to three nights per week and performing approximately once per month.  She earns $60.00 per performance.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant self-treats her back complaints by swimming and walking.  While walking results in some soreness, claimant explained walking does not exhaust her like standing does.  She also continues to perform her home exercise program.  Claimant testified she gained approximately 50 pounds following the work injuries which she attributes to her inability to exercise and potentially, the prescribed medications.  She continues her attempts to lose weight.  (Claimant’s testimony)    

Claimant last received a permanent partial disability check in mid-January 2013, prior to evidentiary hearing in March 2013.  Claimant relayed persistent problems with receiving indemnity checks late and has been told her payments were delayed due to the assignment of a new claims handler, computer error, or unallocated monies.  (Claimant’s testimony)  An attachment to the hearing report indicates defendants have commenced payment of 50 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits, representing Dr. Schenne’s rating of 10 percent whole person.  The attachment further indicates 22 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits have been paid, with the final four of those checks being paid on January 18, 2013.  Based upon the attachment, it does not appear that any other permanent partial disability checks were paid after January 18, 2013 and before the hearing date of March 8, 2013.  Claimant confirmed the last date of receipt of indemnity checks as mid-January 2013.  (Claimant’s testimony)  The record reveals attempts by claimant’s attorney to obtain claimant’s indemnity checks on multiple occasions, including August 30, 2012, January 8, 2013, and February 25, 2013.  During these periods, claimant expressed concern regarding her inability to pay her bills and meet basic needs.  (Ex. 8, pp. 1-7)  Claimant no longer receives unemployment benefits; she receives food stamps.  (Claimant’s testimony)
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

In File No. 5040416 (Date of Injury: September 6, 2011):

The first issue for determination is the extent of claimant’s industrial disability.  

The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6).

Under the Iowa Workers’ Compensation Act, permanent partial disability is compensated either for a loss or loss of use of a scheduled member under Iowa Code section 85.34(2)(a)-(t) or for loss of earning capacity under section 85.34(2)(u).  The parties stipulated claimant’s back injury is properly evaluated as an industrial disability.   

Since claimant has an impairment to the body as a whole, an industrial disability has been sustained.  Industrial disability was defined in Diederich v. Tri-City R. Co., 219 Iowa 587, 258 N.W. 899 (1935) as follows:  "It is therefore plain that the legislature intended the term 'disability' to mean 'industrial disability' or loss of earning capacity and not a mere 'functional disability' to be computed in the terms of percentages of the total physical and mental ability of a normal man."

Functional impairment is an element to be considered in determining industrial disability which is the reduction of earning capacity, but consideration must also be given to the injured employee's age, education, qualifications, experience, motivation, loss of earnings, severity and situs of the injury, work restrictions, inability to engage in employment for which the employee is fitted and the employer's offer of work or failure to so offer.  McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co., 288 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1980); Olson v. Goodyear Service Stores, 255 Iowa 1112, 125 N.W.2d 251 (1963); Barton v. Nevada Poultry Co., 253 Iowa 285, 110 N.W.2d 660 (1961).

Compensation for permanent partial disability shall begin at the termination of the healing period.  Compensation shall be paid in relation to 500 weeks as the disability bears to the body as a whole.  Section 85.34.

Claimant was 36 years of age on the date of evidentiary hearing.  Claimant’s educational background includes a GED; while she continued high school through the 11th grade, claimant earned a 4.0 grade point average.  Following attainment of her GED, claimant continued her educational pursuits while also engaging in the workforce.  She has obtained approximately 90 college credits and with the exception of a period of illness, has done so with good grades.  Claimant is close to obtaining her associates’ degree and has expressed interest in pursuing further education in the psychology field.  In addition to her educational pursuits, claimant is fluent in both English and Spanish.  She has also demonstrated interest and aptitude in management duties, as is evidenced by her successful involvement in defendant-employer’s management training.  Claimant is clearly an intelligent, motivated individual, with an above-average capacity for retraining, should such an opportunity be provided to her.

Claimant has also demonstrated motivation to engagement in the workforce, having worked relatively consistently since the age of 12.  Although many of her past work experiences have been short term in nature, claimant remains a relatively young worker who continues to seek further education in hopes of joining a career field.  The undersigned finds claimant’s near continuous employment to be more indicative of claimant’s motivation to engage in the labor market than does the short-term nature of much of her employment imply some sort of lack thereof.  

As a result of the stipulated work injury, claimant sustained a bulged disc at L5-S1 and was treated conservatively with prescription medications, physical therapy, a home exercise program, epidural steroid injection and blood patch, and work restrictions.  Despite such care, claimant credibly testified to continued low back symptoms.  Dr. Schenne ordered a FCE, performed by Mr. Saulsbury.  Mr. Saulsbury opined claimant capable of working within the light physical demand category, with the ability to lift up to 25 pounds, although he recommended claimant avoid lifting from the floor.  Mr. Saulsbury also found claimant limited to infrequent bending, squatting, and kneeling, as well as occasional stair climbing and crawling.  Dr. Schenne reviewed and presumably adopted the limitations set forth by Mr. Saulsbury’s FCE.  Following the FCE and with knowledge that the FCE caused claimant tremendous pain, Dr. Bansal recommended permanent restrictions of no lifting greater than 10 pounds frequently and 20 pounds occasionally; no frequent bending, squatting, climbing, twisting, and kneeling; and avoidance of sitting longer than one hour and standing or walking longer than 45 minutes.  Claimant expressed agreement with the restrictions set forth by Dr. Bansal.  

The restrictions imposed by Dr. Schenne, let alone the more restrictive ones recommended by Dr. Bansal, would preclude claimant from engaging in a majority of her pre-injury positions, as most positions required claimant to lift greater than 25 pounds and engage in bending tasks.  Claimant is further limited by her limitations on sitting and standing, as credibly testified to by claimant and noted by Dr. Bansal.  The impact of claimant’s work injury upon her ability to engage in the labor market is evidenced by defendant-employer’s failure to offer claimant work within her restrictions and ultimately claimant’s termination as a result of imposition of permanent restrictions.  Following termination, claimant diligently sought assistance through Iowa Workforce Development and has continued to seek employment, albeit unsuccessfully.  The undersigned finds claimant motivated to continued education, retraining, and employment, should such opportunities be presented to her.  

Dr. Schenne opined claimant sustained a permanent impairment of 10 percent whole person as a result of the back injury.  Dr. Schenne offered no explanation as to his methodology for determining the extent of claimant’s permanent impairment.  Presumably, Dr. Schenne adopted Mr. Saulsbury’s FCE notation claimant sustained a 10 percent whole person impairment based upon spinal inclinometry results.  Dr. Bansal opined claimant sustained a permanent impairment of 13 percent whole person for a disc bulge visible on imaging with corresponding radiculopathy.  Claimant continues to suffer with difficulties and limitations as a result of the back injury, including constant low back pain, upper back spasms, and troubles with lifting and maintained postures.       

Upon consideration of the above and all other relevant factors of industrial disability, it is determined claimant sustained a 40 percent industrial disability as a result of the stipulated work-related injury of September 6, 2011.  Claimant is entitled to 200 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits (40 percent x 500 weeks = 200 weeks), commencing on the stipulated date of April 25, 2012.  The parties stipulated claimant’s gross weekly earnings were $565.92 and claimant was single and entitled to two exemptions.  The proper rate of compensation is $372.63. 
The final issue for determination is whether claimant is entitled to penalty benefits under Iowa Code section 86.13 and if so, how much. 

If weekly compensation benefits are not fully paid when due, section 86.13 requires that additional benefits be awarded unless the employer shows reasonable cause or excuse for the delay or denial.  Robbennolt v. Snap-on Tools Corp., 555 N.W.2d 229 (Iowa 1996). 

Delay attributable to the time required to perform a reasonable investigation is not unreasonable.  Kiesecker v. Webster City Meats, Inc., 528 N.W.2d 109 (Iowa 1995).  

It also is not unreasonable to deny a claim when a good faith issue of law or fact makes the employer’s liability fairly debatable.  An issue of law is fairly debatable if viable arguments exist in favor of each party.  Covia v. Robinson, 507 N.W.2d 411 (Iowa 1993).  An issue of fact is fairly debatable if substantial evidence exists which would support a finding favorable to the employer.  Gilbert v. USF Holland, Inc., 637 N.W.2d 194 (Iowa 2001). 

An employer’s bare assertion that a claim is fairly debatable is insufficient to avoid imposition of a penalty.  The employer must assert facts upon which the commissioner could reasonably find that the claim was “fairly debatable.”  Meyers v. Holiday Express Corp., 557 N.W.2d 502 (Iowa 1996).  

If the employer fails to show reasonable cause or excuse for the delay or denial, the commissioner shall impose a penalty in an amount up to 50 percent of the amount unreasonably delayed or denied.  Christensen v. Snap-on Tools Corp., 554 N.W.2d 254 (Iowa 1996).  The factors to be considered in determining the amount of the penalty include the length of the delay, the number of delays, the information available to the employer and the employer’s past record of penalties.  Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 238.

Prior to evidentiary hearing, defendants agreed claimant was entitled to 50 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits as a result of the stipulated September 6, 2011 work injury, representing a 10 percent whole person disability.  The parties stipulated permanent disability benefits should commence April 25, 2012.  Defendants did not make payment of permanent partial disability benefits until July 27, 2012.  When defendants commenced payment of permanent partial disability benefits, it was on a weekly basis and without payment of the benefits already accrued.  At the time defendants began payment of permanent partial disability benefits, 13.429 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits with a monetary value of $5,004.05 (13.429 weeks x $372.63 = $5,004.05) had already accrued and were owing to claimant.  Defendants failed to establish a probable cause or excuse for this delay in payment and further, failed to make payment of these accrued permanent partial disability benefits prior to the date of evidentiary hearing.  A penalty of $2,500.00 is warranted on defendants’ failure to pay accrued permanent partial disability benefits from April 25, 2012 through July 27, 2012.  

Defendants also failed to issue claimant permanent partial disability benefit checks for four weeks from December 21, 2012 through January 18, 2013.  These benefits also represent permanent disability benefits stipulated to by defendants.  Defendants delayed in payment of $1,543.81 in permanent partial disability benefits during this period (4.143 weeks x $372.63 = $1,543.81).  Defendants offered no probable cause or excuse for this delay and the failure to pay these permanent disability benefits in a timely manner represented a repeated delay in payment by defendants.  A penalty in the amount of $770.00 is warranted.  

The attachment to the hearing report reveals no permanent disability checks were paid between January 18, 2013 and the date of evidentiary hearing on March 8, 2013.  This period represents a delay of 7.143 weeks of benefits, with a monetary value of $2,661.70 (7.143 weeks x $372.63 = $2,661.70).  Defendants offered no probable cause or excuse for this delay and the failure to pay these permanent disability benefits in a timely manner represented a repeated delay in payment by defendants.  A penalty in the amount of $1,330.00 is warranted. 

Defendants shall pay claimant $4,600.00 in penalty benefits for delay in payment of permanent partial disability benefits to which defendants stipulated claimant was entitled.  

In File No. 5040417 (Date of Injury: July 13, 2011):


The first issue for determination is whether the stipulated injury of July 13, 2011 is a cause of permanent disability.  

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible.  George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996).

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability.  Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP, Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995).  Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).


Claimant received treatment of her left upper extremity condition from Dr. Schenne.  Dr. Schenne did not opine as to whether claimant sustained permanent impairment as a result of the stipulated work injury of July 13, 2011.  Only Dr. Bansal issued an opinion regarding whether the work injury resulted in permanent disability.  Dr. Bansal opined claimant sustained permanent impairment to her left upper extremity as a result of the work injury.  Dr. Bansal’s opinion is unrebutted and is consistent with claimant’s credible testimony regarding ongoing difficulties with her left arm.  Therefore, it is determined the stipulated work injury of July 13, 2011 is a cause of permanent disability to claimant’s left upper extremity.  


The final issue is the extent of permanent disability to claimant’s left upper extremity.  

Under the Iowa Workers' Compensation Act, permanent partial disability is compensated either for a loss or loss of use of a scheduled member under Iowa Code section 85.34(2)(a)-(t) or for loss of earning capacity under section 85.34(2)(u).  The extent of scheduled member disability benefits to which an injured worker is entitled is determined by using the functional method.  Functional disability is "limited to the loss of the physiological capacity of the body or body part.”  Mortimer v. Fruehauf Corp., 502 N.W.2d 12, 15 (Iowa 1993); Sherman v. Pella Corp., 576 N.W.2d 312 (Iowa 1998).  The fact finder must consider both medical and lay evidence relating to the extent of the functional loss in determining permanent disability resulting from an injury to a scheduled member.  Terwilliger v. Snap-On Tools Corp., 529 N.W.2d 267, 272-273 (Iowa 1995); Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417, 420 (Iowa 1994). 

While Dr. Schenne provided claimant treatment of her left upper extremity condition, Dr. Schenne did not issue an opinion regarding the extent of permanent disability, if any, claimant sustained as a result of the work injury.  The only physician to opine as to the extent of permanent impairment sustained by claimant as a result of the work injury was Dr. Bansal.  Dr. Bansal assessed left upper arm myositis and opined claimant sustained a permanent impairment of 3 percent upper extremity.  Dr. Bansal’s unrebutted medical opinion is consistent with claimant’s credible testimony of continued left upper extremity symptoms and limitations.  

Upon consideration of the above and all other relevant factors of functional disability, it is determined claimant sustained a 3 percent left upper extremity disability as a result of the stipulated work-related injury of July 13, 2011.  Claimant is entitled to 7.5 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits (3 percent x 250 weeks = 7.5 weeks), commencing on the stipulated date of April 25, 2012.  The parties stipulated claimant’s gross weekly earnings were $565.92 and claimant was single and entitled to two exemptions.  The proper rate of compensation is $372.63. 
For both files: 


The only issue for determination is a specific taxation of costs pursuant to Iowa Code section 86.40 and rule 876 IAC 4.33.  Defendants seek taxation of the costs of procurement of medical records ($136.92); claimant’s deposition court reporter fees ($385.50); and court reporter fees incurred in connection with evidentiary hearing.  Costs are taxed at the discretion of the presiding deputy; the undersigned does not believe taxation of these costs to claimant is appropriate.  Defendants’ costs of procuring medical records from defendants’ chosen, authorized doctor and cost of claimant’s deposition and transcript are incurred incident to completion of a reasonable investigation of claims, a duty imposed upon defendants by the workers’ compensation laws.  Taxation of the costs of completing such an investigation, as is defendants’ duty, are not properly taxed against claimant.  Finally, the cost of evidentiary hearing court reporter fees are not taxed to claimant, as hearing proceeded on two valid, admitted workers’ compensation claims.  These claims resulted in a determination that claimant is entitled to workers’ compensation benefits in excess of those paid by defendants.  Defendants’ request for taxation of the costs outlined above is denied.     
ORDER

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED:

For File No. 5040416 (Date of Injury: September 6, 2011):

Defendants shall pay unto claimant two hundred (200) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits commencing on the stipulated date of April 25, 2012 at the weekly rate of three hundred seventy-two and 63/100 dollars ($372.63). 

Defendants shall pay accrued weekly benefits in a lump sum.

Defendants shall pay interest on unpaid weekly benefits awarded herein as set forth in Iowa Code section 85.30.

Defendants shall pay penalty benefits in the amount of four thousand six hundred and no/100 dollars ($4,600.00).

Defendants shall pay interest on the penalty benefits from the date of this decision.  See Schadendorf v. Snap On Tools Corp., 757 N.W.2d 330, 339 (Iowa 2008).  
Defendants shall receive credit for benefits paid.

For File No. 5040417 (Date of Injury: July 13, 2011):

Defendants shall pay unto claimant seven point five (7.5) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits commencing on the stipulated date of April 25, 2012 at the weekly rate of three hundred seventy-two and 63/100 dollars ($372.63). 

Defendants shall pay accrued weekly benefits in a lump sum.

Defendants shall pay interest on unpaid weekly benefits awarded herein as set forth in Iowa Code section 85.30.

For both files:

Defendants shall file subsequent reports of injury as required by this agency pursuant to rule 876 IAC 3.1(2).

Costs are taxed to defendants pursuant to 876 IAC 4.33.  
Signed and filed this ___8th ____ day of October, 2013.

[image: image1.emf]
       ERICA J. FITCH (ELLIOTT)
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18 IF  = 18 “Right to Appeal:  This decision shall become final unless you or another interested party appeals within 20 days from the date above, pursuant to rule 876-4.27 (17A, 86) of the Iowa Administrative Code.  The notice of appeal must be in writing and received by the commissioner’s office within 20 days from the date of the decision.  The appeal period will be extended to the next business day if the last day to appeal falls on a weekend or a legal holiday.  The notice of appeal must be filed at the following address:  Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Iowa Division of Workers’ Compensation, 1000 E. Grand Avenue, Des Moines, Iowa  50319-0209.” 
Right to Appeal:  This decision shall become final unless you or another interested party appeals within 20 days from the date above, pursuant to rule 876-4.27 (17A, 86) of the Iowa Administrative Code.  The notice of appeal must be in writing and received by the commissioner’s office within 20 days from the date of the decision.  The appeal period will be extended to the next business day if the last day to appeal falls on a weekend or a legal holiday.  The notice of appeal must be filed at the following address:  Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Iowa Division of Workers’ Compensation, 1000 E. Grand Avenue, Des Moines, Iowa  50319-0209.


